
Lancashire County Council

Children's Services Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday, 10th October, 2018 at 2.00 pm in Cabinet Room 'C' - The Duke of 
Lancaster Room, County Hall, Preston 

Agenda

Part I (Open to Press and Public)

No. Item

1. Apologies  

2. Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary 
Interests  
Members are asked to consider any Pecuniary and 
Non-Pecuniary Interests they may have to disclose to 
the meeting in relation to matters under consideration 
on the Agenda.

3. Minutes from the meeting held on 4 July 2018  (Pages 1 - 4)

4. Update from the Chair  (Verbal Report)

5. Report on the Ofsted re-inspection of Children's 
Services  

(Pages 5 - 40)

6. Child Health - Lancashire  (Pages 41 - 48)

7. Children's Services Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 2018/19  

(Pages 49 - 56)

8. Urgent Business  
An item of urgent business may only be considered 
under this heading where, by reason of special 
circumstances to be recorded in the Minutes, the Chair 
of the meeting is of the opinion that the item should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.  
Wherever possible, the Chief Executive should be 
given advance warning of any Member’s intention to 
raise a matter under this heading.

9. Date of the Next Meeting  



Next meeting of the Children's Services Scrutiny 
Committee is Wednesday 28 November 2018 at 2pm, 
Cabinet Room C, County Hall, Preston

L Sales
Director of Corporate Services

County Hall
Preston



Lancashire County Council

Children's Services Scrutiny Committee

Minutes of the Meeting held on Wednesday, 4th July, 2018 at 2.00 pm in 
Cabinet Room 'C' - The Duke of Lancaster Room, County Hall, Preston

Present:
County Councillor Andrea Kay (Chair)

County Councillors

N Hennessy
I Brown
A Cheetham
J Cooney
B Dawson

P V Greenall
J Rear
J Mein
D T Smith
M Tomlinson

Co-opted members
None in attendance

County Councillor Bernard Dawson replaced County Councillor Sobia Malik.

1.  Apologies

Apologies were received County Councillor Andrew Gardiner and Councillor Gail 
Goodman, Children's Partnership Board - Fylde, Wyre and Lancashire North.

2.  Constitution: Membership; Chair and Deputy Chair; and Terms of 
Reference

The report presented set out the membership, Chair and Deputy Chair and terms 
of reference of the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 
2018/19.

Resolved: That the following be noted;
i. The appointment of County Councillors Andrea Kay and Nikki Hennessy 

as Chair and Deputy Chair of the Committee for the remainder of the 
2018/19 municipal year.

ii. The new membership of the Committee following the county council's 
Annual Meeting on 24 May 2018; and

iii. The terms of reference of the Committee.

3.  Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests

None were disclosed.

4.  Minutes from the meeting held on 22 May 2018

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Resolved: That the minutes from the meeting held on the 22 May 2018 be 
confirmed as an accurate record and signed by the Chair.

5.  Contact - for Families with Disabled Children

The Chair welcomed Catherine Ratcliffe, from Contact, to the meeting. The report 
presented provided a brief overview of Contact, a charity for families with 
disabled children which offered support, news and resources for parent carer 
forums.

The Committee was informed that the request was received by Contact in 
October 2017 to support the establishment of a new parent carer forum in 
Lancashire.  Work commenced in November 2017 with the first meeting of 14 
parents in Leyland with a further meeting held in December.  Subsequent 
meetings were cancelled due to unforeseeable circumstances and inclement 
weather across the county.  Members were advised that there was considerable 
work required due to the geographical size of Lancashire and a request was 
made to parents in Leyland and Ormskirk to work together in small groups to 
assist with the engagement of parents and carers across Lancashire around the 
proposed new forum.

It was reported that the challenge was about establishing a culture of change and 
a co-productive relationship. Building a relationship of trust between parents and 
the local authority was vital. Forums were independent and depended on the 
goodwill and commitment of parents. 

It was noted that in Lancashire around 20% of parents were from minority groups 
and the question of how Contact engaged with these parents was raised. It was 
pointed out that part of the grant application was about hard to reach groups. In 
addition, it was acknowledged that it was difficult for some parents to travel and 
Contact had asked parents where their preferable meeting places would be.

Members were advised that it was important to build capacity from the outset. It 
was also important to reach the people who may be reluctant to come and have 
their voice heard. It was vital to make these people welcome. Further to this, it 
was reported that governance for the new forum had to be fit for purpose. 

Members were concerned that the work needed to be undertaken in ensuring 
engagement from parents and carers across Lancashire required more one to 
one support from Contact but acknowledged the challenge that the geographical 
size of Lancashire presented for one person to complete.  

From the information presented, the Committee felt that there was a need for 
additional capacity to be provided from Contact to further support work 
undertaken given:

 The geographical size of Lancashire and the challenges that presents in 
ensuring inclusivity and engagement for all parent/carers; 

Page 2



 The added complexity of the capacity and relationship issues from the 
previous forum; and 

 The need to ensure better engagement and relationships within the forum 
and with Lancashire County Council

The Committee also felt that given the time taken so far in relation to the progress 
made, that an action plan was required with timescales to further support the 
commitment from Contact in supporting the development of a Lancashire Parent 
Carer Forum.

Resolved: That;
i. The report presented be noted.
ii. A letter be sent from the Chair of the Committee to the Regional Manager 

at Contact with a copy to the Department for Education highlighting the 
concerns raised on the progress in Lancashire on the establishment of a 
Lancashire Parent Carer Forum, 

iii. An action plan be drafted on delivery and timescales by Contact, and 
iv. A further update on progress from Contact be provided to the Committee 

later in the autumn.

6.  SEND Partnership Team - Engagement

The Chair welcomed David Graham, Head of Service for SEND; Sophie 
Valinakis, SEND Partnership Project Lead; Gareth Jenkins, SEND 
Communication Lead; and Sally Allen, Interim Deputy Director of Children's 
Services, to the meeting.

The report presented provided an overview of information to be presented to 
members on the progress of the Lancashire SEND Partnership engagement with 
parent / carers.

It was reported that the action plan set out the changes needed to address the 
recommendations that Ofsted and the CQC made in their report. Working 
together with children and families was essential to making the plan succeed.

An Engagement Working Group had been set up which had three task and finish 
groups:

1) Creating a coproduction strategy. 
2) Engagement and POET (Personal Outcomes Evaluation Toolkit).
3) Improving the local offer accessibility and quality of information.

The group had established 'Your Child, Your Voice' engagement sessions for 
parents / carers of CYP and SEND. 

Regarding POET, it was reported that this was an independent annual survey 
carried out by the national charity In-Control. It measured the experience of CYP 
with an EHCP and the experience of the families and practitioners who supported 

Page 3



them. It identified what was working well and what areas needed improvement. 
The LCC SEND team was the most successful than any other authority in terms 
of getting parents to complete the survey. The survey was available online and 
also paper copies were sent out to the parents.  The survey was anonymous and 
there had been 800 replies from the 7000 forms sent out to parents.

The query of communication with parents was raised and what the way forward 
would be. It was confirmed that the best way forward was for parents to come to 
the sessions and giving feedback on their experiences and wishes. Regarding 
the coproduction strategy, members were advised that the team was looking at 
examples of best practice to support this moving forward.

A second phase of events was being set up for the autumn term and members 
were told that parents would be involved in these events.

The Committee was informed that there was only one parent on the SEND 
Partnership Board at the moment as a representation for the county. The Board 
had recognised that this was not enough and that at least three parents were 
needed. At these sessions, an expression of interest form had been set up to see 
if parents would be interested in joining the Board. 

Resolved: That;
i. The report presented be noted;
ii. Members attend engagement events in their areas and report back to the 

Committee.

7.  Urgent Business

There were no items of Urgent Business.

8.  Date of the Next Meeting

The next meeting of the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee will take place 
on Wednesday 10 October at 2:00pm in Cabinet Room C (The Duke of Lancaster 
Room) at the County Hall, Preston.

L Sales
Director of Corporate Services

County Hall
Preston

Page 4



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee
Meeting to be held on Wednesday, 10 October 2018

Electoral Division affected:
(All Divisions);

Report on the Ofsted re-inspection of Children's Services
(Appendix A refers)

Contact for further information:
Sally Allen, Tel: 01772 531754, Interim Deputy Director of Children's Services 
sally.allen@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary
The report provides an overview of the Ofsted re-inspection of services for children 
in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers. 

Recommendation
The Children's Services Scrutiny Committee is asked to note and comment on the 
report.

Background and Advice 

In June 2018 Ofsted completed a four week re-inspection of Children's Services 
(Appendix A refers to the full report). Inspectors recognised the significant 
improvements made since our last inspection (September 2015) and gave an overall 
effectiveness judgement of requires improvement to be good. 

The table below provides a breakdown of the individual inspection judgements:

Children's services in Lancashire require improvement to be good

1. Children who need help and 
protection

Requires improvement

2. Children looked after and achieving 
permanence

Requires improvement

        2.1 Adoption performance Good

           2.2 Experiences and progress of        
            care leavers 

Requires improvement

3. Leadership, management and 
governance

Requires improvement

During the course of the inspection inspectors looked at 152 children's cases in 
detail and sampled more; they completed 96 formal interviews and focus groups 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



involving 268 staff and partners; 145 evidence documents were submitted and 101 
responses were provided in relation to enquiries from inspectors. 

The report, published on the 17 August 2018, highlights that leaders know their 
services well and that senior managers and leaders have taken appropriate action to 
improve services, utilising feedback from Ofsted monitoring visits and peer reviews 
to ensure that change is informed by best practice and previous inspection 
recommendations. Senior managers, the chief executive and political leaders are 
aware of their respective responsibilities and the priorities for Children's Services. 
Additionally, the improved visibility and communication from senior leaders has given 
staff a renewed confidence and energy in their efforts to improve services.  

The experiences and progress of children who need help and protection

In most cases it was found that prompt and effective action is taken to safeguard and 
protect children and the way in which help and support is delivered to children in 
need is no longer a cause for concern. Social workers know their children well and in 
the majority of cases seen by inspectors, children and families are helped and 
protected at the right level by suitably qualified staff. There is also a more joined up 
approach to supporting children who go missing from home, care or education and 
those at risk of exploitation. Improvement was noted in the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) where social work capacity has been strengthened. 

However, further work is required to ensure consistency in the quality of practice 
across services; in particular, to improve the analysis within assessments and to 
ensure that children's plans are specific, measurable, realistic and include 
appropriate timescales so that parents/carers understand what needs to change.

The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence

Services for children looked after (CLA) have improved since the last inspection. 
Inspectors highlighted that the council is a committed and responsible corporate 
parent. Dedicated social work teams have resulted in more child-focused practice 
with manageable workloads. Children are seen regularly by their social worker and 
independent reviewing officer (IRO). Significant progress has been made to improve 
the educational attainment and progress of CLA at Key Stages 1 and 2. Effective 
partnership arrangements are supporting the delivery of health assessments and 
effective placement finding has resulted in a high number of CLA living within the 
county, which means that children retain their school placement and friendship 
groups. The participation and engagement of children is positively encouraged and 
supported and their voices come through clearly in case recording. The Corporate 
Parenting Board has also engaged meaningfully with the Children in Care Council, 
LINX.

However, planning for children's permanence is not consistently strong enough, 
except where there is a plan for adoption and management decision making is not 
always clearly recorded. Further work is also required to improve the educational 
attainment of CLA at Key Stage 4.

Page 6



Adoption performance 

The adoption service is judged to be a strength. Adoption is appropriately considered 
for all children when they cannot remain living with their birth families. The numbers 
of children adopted compares favourably with similar local authorities and children 
move promptly to live with their prospective adopters. Assessments and prospective 
adopters' reports for the adoption panel are of a reliably good quality and the panel 
offers good oversight of the quality of adoption work and robust challenge when 
necessary. Work to identify suitable adopters is consistently rigorous, creative and 
persistent, contributing to good matches for children. Visits to placements are regular 
and purposeful and direct work to support children is well planned, prioritised and 
effective. Skilled, committed foster carers are fully engaged and work well with 
adopters. 

Given the strength of the service only a limited number of areas for improvement 
were identified, including earlier permanence planning and more timely transfer of 
cases to the Children Awaiting Adoption Team where there is a plan of adoption. The 
quality of child permanence reports is not consistently good.

The experience and progress of care leavers

Care leavers have a positive and confident view of the local authority as a corporate 
parent and appreciate the higher profile they now have. The vast majority have good 
relationships with their personal advisors, who provide effective support with matters 
such as housing or attendance at health appointments. Most care leavers are clear 
about their entitlements, the leaving care grant has been significantly increased and 
council tax has been waived. The local authority is now in touch with the vast 
majority of care leavers. Care leavers attend and have a presence at the Corporate 
Parenting Board, as well as being involved in staff training. Most care leavers are 
living in suitable accommodation and the small number who are not, are nearly all in 
custody. The number of care leavers staying put with their former foster carers has 
significantly increased. A dedicated Employment Support Team works proactively 
with the Leaving Care Service to support young people into education, employment 
or training.

However, whilst a high proportion of care leavers age 16 and 17 are in education, 
employment and training, too few are still in education, employment and training at 
age 19 to 21. Also, whilst all care leavers are registered with a doctor and most with 
a dentist, waiting times for CAMHS (Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services) are 
too long. The quality of pathway plans requires improvement so that they are an 
effective tool for planning a young person's future.     

Leadership, management and governance

Leadership and governance is increasingly effective. Senior managers, the chief 
executive and political leaders are aware of and are acting on their respective 
responsibilities and the priorities for Children's Services. Strategic plans are now 
better aligned and partnerships in key agencies are working more effectively. 
Commissioning arrangements across the local authority have improved. The 
workforce strategy is effective and is well supported by corporate council services. 

Page 7



As a result there is a better balance of newly qualified and experienced staff. The 
ambition to develop into a learning organisation is described as tangible. Auditing 
activity is effective and provides an accurate evaluation of the quality of practice, and 
was aligned to the findings of inspectors. A number of initiatives were identified as 
having a positive impact on staff recruitment and retention, including a new teaching 
partnership with the University of Central Lancashire (UCLAN), the Social Work 
Academy and a recently launched Leadership Academy. 

Although data is increasingly accurate and well presented, further work is required to 
ensure it is used by front-line managers as a dynamic tool to measure progress, 
explore gaps, patterns and trends. Together with partner agencies we need to 
improve our response to children and families affected by domestic abuse.  

An Improvement Plan is in development which addresses the 11 recommendations 
in the report. This will be presented to Cabinet for approval in November 2018. 
However, work has already commenced in respect of the inspection findings to 
ensure that the pace of change on our improvement journey is maintained.
    
Consultations

N/A

Implications: 

This item has the following implications, as indicated:

As Children's Services are no longer judged to be inadequate, intervention by the 
Department for Education has now ceased. Future inspections by Ofsted will be 
undertaken under a new inspection framework: inspection of local authority children's 
services, with a strong focus on the quality and impact of social work practice. The 
Improvement Plan sets out the priorities for the next twelve months, maintaining the 
pace and focus on areas for improvement. 

Risk management

Financial Risks

Children's Services continues to experience increases in demand and as such 
increases in the cost of placements and allowances, which have been reflected in 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  The most significant pressures relate 
to the cost of residential and fostering placements with external providers.  However, 
it is assumed in the MTFS that demand will ultimately plateau in future years with 
lower increases in demand reflected in the later years of the MTFS period, and that 
recurring savings from 2017/18 previously approved by Cabinet will be achieved.   
The last MTFS update was approved by Cabinet on 13th September 2018.  

Page 8



Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Tel

N/A

Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate

N/A

Page 9



Page 10



 
 

 
 

 1 
 

 

 

Lancashire County Council 
Re-inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers 

Inspection date: 4 June 2018–28 June 2018 

Report Published: 17 August 2018 
 

Children’s services in Lancashire require improvement to be 
good  

1. Children who need help and protection Requires improvement 

2. Children looked after and achieving 
    permanence 

Requires improvement 

 2.1 Adoption performance Good 

 2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers Requires improvement 

3. Leadership, management and governance  Requires improvement 

 
  

Page 11

Appendix A



 
 

 
 

 2 
 

 

Executive summary 

From a very slow start, the past six months in Lancashire have seen a much-
needed injection of pace, with a renewed energy and focus. Leaders can now 
demonstrate that they know their services well. This insight has led to some 
significant improvements and, as a result, children’s services are no longer 
inadequate. An effective corporate leadership structure is now in place and a new 
post of executive director of education and children’s services has been created. 
At the time of the inspection, the current interim post-holder was well supported 
by a new interim post of deputy director. Senior leaders now fully understand the 
scale of the improvements that are required and have taken appropriate action, 
which has seen services for children improve. Senior managers and leaders have 
taken on board the feedback from Ofsted monitoring visits, their peers and 
commissioned improvement partners to ensure that change is informed by best 
practice and previous inspection recommendations. The independently chaired 
improvement board is focused on scrutinising developments through a revised 
improvement plan, and this is resulting in improvements for children across a 
large and diverse county.   

Recent significant investment in redesign of structures and in additional staff 
across key teams have led to improvements in services for children. Aspects of the 
service which have been improved include the new arrangements in the multi-
agency safeguarding hub (MASH), the implementation of a placement finding 
team and developments for children on the edge of care. Social work capacity at 
the front door has also been strengthened, and there has been a change from 
generic to specialist teams on a new locality model. 

This improvement is supported by an increased focus on quality assurance, which 
includes an effective, reliable and independently moderated auditing framework. 
Key learning from audits is disseminated across the workforce by a team of 12 
advanced practitioners, who are deployed to support the improvement agenda. 
This work includes delivery of ‘purposeful practice’ workshops, reflective group 
supervision, and practice-focused ‘drop in’ clinics.  

An effective workforce strategy is addressing retention rates and reducing the 
reliance on agency staff. There is evidence of an increasingly stable workforce. 
This has led to more social workers developing stable relationships with children 
and understanding their needs well. The ambition to develop into a learning 
organisation is tangible, with progress made in relation to the improved offer to 
newly qualified social workers, the Social Work Academy and the recently 
developed Leadership Academy.  

Page 12



 
 

 
 

 3 
 

 

However, senior managers are under no illusion about the rate of progress to 
date. There is still inconsistent practice across the service and more needs to be 
done to embed recent developments. The response to risk is mostly recognised, 
proportionate and helpful to children. Thresholds are generally understood and 
applied appropriately. However, the cultural shift from compliance with statutory 
requirements to achieving a consistent quality of practice is yet to be completed. 
The model of practice is not sufficiently strength-based, and this impacts on the 
quality of assessments, plans and case recording for some children. There is also 
drift and delay for some children. 

Effective multi-agency early help services are not sufficiently embedded. 
Arrangements are not strong enough to ensure that all children who require 
statutory services are stepped up from early help swiftly. The local authority’s 
response to children in need is much more robust than it was at the time of the 
last inspection. A more focused response to neglect is still required to ensure that 
children receive consistently effective child in need support. 

Monitoring systems to track permanence for children looked after have recently 
been reviewed and refreshed. However, these are not efficiently reducing 
unnecessary delay for a small number of children. The adoption service has 
evolved into a centralised, responsive and supportive team, which has consistently 
delivered a good standard of work.  

The response to care leavers is now much more focused and supportive than it 
was at the time of the last inspection. Almost all care leavers are in touch with 
their personal advisers and are living in suitable accommodation. However, 
services for all care leavers are not consistently timely, accessible and responsive 
to their individual needs. 

The council is a committed and responsible corporate parent, and there have been 
significant efforts made to engage with children to secure their full participation in 
their reviews. However, independent reviewing officers (IROs) do not ensure that 
the individual needs of all children are fully addressed and that their plans are 
consistently child-focused.     

Despite increasing numbers, children looked after are seen regularly, placement 
finding processes lead to the majority of children being placed within Lancashire, 
and placement stability is better than comparators. Significant progress has been 
made to improve the educational attainment and progress of children looked after 
at Key Stages 1 and 2. More work is required in supporting children at Key Stage 
4. 

Further commissioning work is required to increase the range of targeted and 
preventive domestic abuse services on offer.  

The quality of performance data has improved but is not used effectively by all 
managers to understand practice across the county. 

   

Page 13



 
 

 
 

 4 
 

 

 
 

Contents 

 Executive summary 1 

The local Authority 5 

 Information about this local authority area 5 

 Recommendations 8 

 Summary for children and young people 9 

 The experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection 

10 

 The experiences and progress of children looked after and 
achieving permanence 

15 

 Leadership, management and governance 24 

Information about this inspection 28 

 
 
   

Page 14



 
 

 
 

 5 
 

 

 

The local authority 
 

1Information about this local authority area 

 

Previous Ofsted inspections 
 
 The local authority operates 14 children’s homes. Eleven were judged to be good or 

outstanding in their most recent Ofsted inspection. However, one children’s home 
was subject to a suspension notice during this inspection. 
 

 The last inspection report for the local authority’s children’s services was published 
in September 2015. The judgements for the local authority were: 
 

 Overall effectiveness: Inadequate 
 

 Children who need help and protection: Inadequate 
 

 Children looked after and achieving permanence: Requires improvement 
 

– adoption performance: Requires improvement 
 

– experiences and progress of care leavers: Inadequate 
 
 

 Leadership, management and governance: Inadequate. 
 
 
Local leadership 
 
 The director of children’s services (DCS) has been in post since February 2017. The 

interim executive director of education and children’s services has been in post 
since January 2018 and took responsibility for the statutory role of DCS from the 
director of children’s services in March 2018 
 

 The interim chief executive has been in post since January 2018. 
 

 The local authority uses the risk sensible model of social work. 
   

                                        
1 The local authority was given the opportunity to review this section of the report and has updated it 
with local unvalidated data where this was available. 

Page 15



 
 

 
 

 6 
 

 

 
Children living in this area 
 
 Approximately 246,600 children and young people under the age of 18 live in 

Lancashire. This is 20.6% of the total population in the area. 
 

 Approximately 15.4% of the local authority’s children are living in poverty. 
 

 The proportion of children entitled to free school meals: 
 

– in primary schools is 13.8% (the national average is 14.1%) 
– in secondary schools is 12.2% (the national average is 12.9%). 

 
 

 Children and young people who are White British account for 87.3% of all children 
living in the area, compared with 86% in the country as a whole. 
 

 The largest minority ethnic groups of children and young people in the area are 
Asian (9.7%) and Mixed (2.5%). 
 

 The proportion of children and young people with English as an additional 
language: 
 

– in primary schools is 13.4% (the national average is 20.6%) 
 

– in secondary schools is 8.9% (the national average is 16.2%). 
 
 

 
Child protection in this area 
 
 At 31 May 2018, 1,699 children had been identified through assessment as being 

formally in need of a specialist children’s service. This is a reduction from 1,815 at 
31 March 2017. 
 

 At 31 May 2018, 1,212 children and young people were the subject of a child 
protection plan. This is a reduction from 1,394 at 31 March 2017. 
 

 At 31 March 2018, 31 children lived in a privately arranged fostering placement. 
This is an increase from 22 at 31 March 2017. 
 

 Since the last inspection, 49 serious incident notifications have been submitted to 
Ofsted and 12 serious case reviews have been completed or were ongoing at the 
time of the inspection. 

 
 
Children looked after in this area 
 
 At 31 May 2018, 1,986 children are being looked after by the local authority (a 

rate of 80.5 per 10,000 children). This is an increase from 1,864 (75.9 per 10,000 
children) at 31 March 2017. Of this number: 
 

– 402 (20.2%) live outside the local authority area 
 

– 192 live in residential children’s homes, of whom 37.5% live outside the 
authority area 
 

Page 16



 
 

 
 

 7 
 

 

– six live in residential special schools2, all of whom live outside the authority 
area 
 

– 1,168 live with foster families, of whom 18.7% live outside the authority area 
 

– 372 live with parents, of whom 10.2% live outside the authority area 
 

– 25 children are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 
 

 In the last 12 months: 
 

– there have been 90 adoptions 
 

– 138 children became subject of special guardianship orders 
 

– 678 children ceased to be looked after, of whom 4.3% subsequently returned 
to be looked after 
 

– 255 children and young people ceased to be looked after and moved on to 
independent living 
 

– no children and young people ceased to be looked after and are now living in 
houses of multiple occupation. 

 
 
 
 
 
   

                                        
2 These are residential special schools that look after children for 295 days or less per year. 

Page 17



 
 

 
 

 8 
 

 

 
 

Recommendations 
 
 

1. Work with partners to ensure that an effective range of early help services is 
in place to support children and families when they first need help. 

2. Ensure that assessments clearly articulate risks and protective factors, provide 
robust analysis and spell out what needs to change and how that is likely to 
be achieved. 

3. Ensure that all plans for children in need, children subject to child protection 
plans, looked after children and care leavers are specific, measurable and 
outcome-focused, so that parents, young people and professionals know who 
needs to do what, and by when. 

4. Ensure that the quality of critical challenge provided by first line managers, 
IROs in looked after reviews and conference chairs within child protection 
conferences are effective in avoiding drift or delay. 

5. Ensure that the local authority and partners share a common understanding 
of the risks associated with neglect, in all its different forms, and have the 
tools they need to monitor and measure their impact in managing change. 

6. Improve the educational attainment and progress of children looked after at 
Key Stage 4. 

7. Ensure that permanence planning, including for those children who return 
home, is rigorously monitored and reviewed on a consistent basis across the 
county to reduce the likelihood of drift and delay. 

8. Ensure that when children successfully return home, timely revocation 
hearings are held to secure permanence plans for them to remain in the care 
of their parents.  

9. Ensure that all care leavers receive timely and accessible support that meets 
their financial, educational and emotional health needs.  

10. Improve the use of performance data so that it is an effective tool to help 
managers measure progress and examine trends. 

11. Work with partners to ensure that responses for children and families living 
with domestic abuse are focused on delivering effective, preventative, and 
targeted support. 

 

 

 

Page 18



 
 

 
 

 9 
 

 

 

Summary for children and young people  

 Children who need help and protection in Lancashire now get better support to 
keep them safe. Senior managers and people who run the council have started to 
do a much better job. They now have accurate information about how services 
are doing, so they can concentrate on improving the right things.  

 Social workers usually understand important things that have happened to 
children in the past. They try to make sure that they talk to all the people who 
have important information. This is helping them to decide what the best thing to 
do is.  

 Senior managers are now making sure that staff have the training they need to 
do their job well. 

 Young people who are looked after are getting much better help with their 
education or job prospects, both while they are at school and after they reach 
16. More children in primary schools are doing well. Children and young people 
at secondary school are still not being supported enough to achieve well in 
school. More young people are staying in education or getting an apprenticeship 
at 16.  

 Most children looked after live in homes with people who understand and meet 
their needs well.  

 Care leavers feel that the local authority is getting better at being a corporate 
parent to them. They receive more information to help them be successful in 
their adult lives. More care leavers are continuing to live with their foster carers 
in staying put arrangements.  

 Work to help children understand what has happened to them before they 
become looked after needs to start earlier.  

 Children are successfully adopted according to their needs, although sometimes 
it takes too long to decide that adoption is the best plan for them. Adopted 
children receive good support that helps them when they move to live with their 
new adoptive families. 

 The council is interested in what children have to say. They involve children in 
important decisions about how services are run. Care leavers now go to the 
corporate parenting board meetings and they are helping to improve services. 

   

Page 19



 
 

 
 

 10 
 

 

 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and 
protection 

Requires improvement 

Summary 

The local authority has acted on key recommendations made at the time of the 
2015 Ofsted inspection. In most cases, prompt and effective action is taken to 
safeguard and protect children, particularly those at immediate risk of significant 
harm. Better use is being made of strategy discussions to plan and consider the 
threshold for child protection investigations. The way in which help and support is 
delivered to children in need is no longer a cause for concern.  

In the majority of cases seen by inspectors, children and families are helped and 
protected at the right level by suitably qualified staff. There is a much more 
joined-up approach to supporting children who go missing from home, care or 
school and those who are at risk of exploitation. Arrangements to safeguard and 
protect young people at risk of being radicalised are good. Allegations against 
people who work with children and who are in a position of trust are well 
managed and rigorously investigated. The needs of 16- and 17-year-olds who 
present as homeless are carefully assessed and this results in appropriate 
packages of care, accommodation and support.  
 
However, senior managers and leaders recognise that the quality of practice is still 
too variable and that the help and protection that many children and families 
receive requires improvement. For example, while the continuum of need has 
been revised and updated, partners are not fully on board with the common 
assessment framework. The new children and family well-being service (CFWS) is 
not fully embedded. Screening of contacts and referrals that come through the 
multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) sometimes takes longer than 24 hours to 
progress, resulting in delays for some children. 
 
While most assessments are timely, detailed and routinely updated, the quality of 
analysis provided is not consistently sharp. Social workers are generally better at 
describing the issues than spelling out what needs to change and how this will be 
achieved. As a result, very few plans are genuinely specific, measurable, realistic 
and time bound. Allied to the fact that managers and child protection conference 
chairs are not consistently providing robust and effective challenge, this 
sometimes undermines the effectiveness of the help and protection provided. On 
occasions, this is contributing to drift and delay for a small number of children. 

The model of practice does not include a range of tools to support social workers 
and other professionals to do their job, specifically in relation to neglect. The local 
authority and its partners are struggling to get to grips with the size and scale of 
the challenge of domestic abuse across the county.  

 

Page 20



 
 

 
 

 11 
 

 

Inspection findings 
 

12. The local authority and partners are not yet delivering comprehensive and 
effective early help to all children. The basic building blocks are in place. 
Partnerships with health visitors, midwives and police early action teams are 
well developed. The curriculum framework has been well thought out in order 
to ensure that an extensive programme is targeted and delivered to best 
effect. However, there is currently a high number of unfilled family support 
worker posts which are subject to ongoing recruitment processes. This means 
that the service is overstretched at this time.  

13. Currently, due to demand and capacity issues, the children and families well-
being service (CFWS) is having to prioritise children and families who are 
stepped down from children’s social care at the expense of other children and 
families who would benefit from early help. This is, in part, because most 
cases with a CWFS worker involved have this worker as the lead professional, 
rather than partners appropriately being identified to take on this role. This 
has implications for the capacity of the service. It also means that children 
and families do not always get the help and support they need quickly 
enough when problems first start to emerge. Action is being taken to try to 
improve the quality of common assessments (CAFs), as there are significant 
variations across, and between, districts and partner agencies. 
(Recommendation) 

14. The interface between early help and statutory social work is clearly 
differentiated. Step-down arrangements are generally well managed. The 
continuum of need has been revised and updated, and there is evidence that 
Lancashire’s model of practice is being used more widely. However, further 
work is required to ensure that partners fully understand, and consistently 
apply, thresholds. Additionally, when cases are stepped back up from CFWS 
to children’s social care, it happens via the multi-agency safeguarding hub 
(MASH). This means that children and families often have to start again with 
a new social worker.  

15. The giving, or withholding, of consent is clearly recorded. However, in a very 
small number of cases, inspectors found that the local authority could, and 
should, have been more authoritative in over-ruling consent in the best 
interests of the child, resulting in a swifter response for more children.  

16. Most cases seen in the MASH are progressed appropriately as referrals to 
children’s social care, re-directed to early help or stepped down to universal 
services appropriately. There is, though, room for further improvement. 
Screening and triage of contacts and referrals leads to actions that are rated 
according to red, amber or green (RAG-rated) being overseen by managers. 
Despite this, some still take longer than 24 hours to progress. Consequently, 

Page 21



 
 

 
 

 12 
 

 

inspectors also saw some isolated examples of drift and delay within the 
MASH. 

17. Good two-way communication with the out-of-hours social work service 
(EDT), which is co-located with the MASH, helps to ensure that children and 
families receive an effective service out of hours. 

18. Children considered to be at immediate risk of significant harm following 
referral are referred swiftly to the relevant locality team. Good use is made of 
conference calls to facilitate the engagement and involvement of partner 
agencies in strategy discussions. Most, but not all, strategy discussions are 
held promptly. Information is well shared. In most cases, good account is 
taken of historical factors. However, the way in which some strategy 
discussions are recorded, particularly those that take place out of hours, 
requires improvement to make it clear who will do what, by when and why.  

19. Most assessments are timely. Social workers know their children well, 
although this is not always sufficiently reflected on the case record. For 
example, children’s individual needs, wishes, personalities and feelings are 
generally reflected in social work assessments. They routinely include lots of 
detail and are updated in response to changing circumstances. The needs of 
disabled children are recognised. However, they tend towards the descriptive 
and, in most cases, the quality of analysis provided requires improvement. 
Protective factors are not routinely identified. Assessments are not good at 
spelling out what needs to change and how that is likely to be achieved. 
(Recommendation) 

20. The quality of plans requires improvement. Very few plans are genuinely 
specific, measurable, realistic and time bound. This has the potential to 
undermine the effectiveness of the help and support provided and makes it 
difficult for parents, and others, to understand who needs to do what, by 
when, or to hold each other to account. (Recommendation) 

21. Attendance by partner agencies and other professionals at child protection 
conferences and core groups is generally good. Although core groups meet 
regularly, progress is not always systematically reviewed and evaluated 
against decisions taken and actions agreed previously. On occasion, this leads 
to drift and delay. 

22. Child protection conference chairs and practice managers are not consistently 
providing effective critical challenge. This is clear from the quality of 
assessments and plans. Inspectors also found it to be an issue sometimes 
when there is evidence of disguised compliance and/or parents are reluctant 
to engage. In a very small number of cases, inspectors saw evidence of 
professionals not always robustly focusing on the impact on the child.  

23. Family support workers now appropriately hold children in need cases when 
the level of associated risk is judged to be low, and then only under the close 
supervision of a senior social worker. More complex cases are directly 

Page 22



 
 

 
 

 13 
 

 

managed by social workers. Children in need plans seen are mostly effective. 
Children in need cases are stepped up or down appropriately in response to 
increasing or decreasing risks and needs. 

24. Currently, social workers and other professionals do not have access to a 
range of tools, including those for analysis of neglect, to help them to monitor 
and measure progress, or to support direct work with children and parents. 
Although there is good awareness of the significance and impact of domestic 
abuse, substance misuse and parental mental ill-health in the lives of children 
and families, the neglect strategy is out of date. Implementation of the 
existing delivery plan has stalled, and this has led to a lack of purposeful 
practice in this area with partners. (Recommendation) 

25. Changes in the MASH have encouraged the local authority and partners to 
focus on, and strengthen, their response to domestic abuse. They are still 
trying to get to grips with the size and scale of the challenge. The quality and 
timeliness of police vulnerable people reports is improving. Most include 
relevant historical information, are appropriately rated as red, amber or green 
(RAG) and lead to an effective and proportionate response. Information 
about domestic abuse incidents is now appropriately shared with schools, 
school nurses, health visitors and midwives. This helps to safeguard children 
and families who do not meet the threshold for a child protection 
investigation.  

26. Audits are used to assess the quality of responses to children living with 
domestic abuse. A number of commissioned services provide early support to 
children and young people. Lancashire victim services also provide a range of 
services, including the adult victim service. The county has nine refuges. 
However, the perpetrator programme is under-resourced and under-
developed. 

27. The multi-agency response to adults who pose a risk to children (MARAC) 
arrangements are well established and well managed.  Decisions taken, and 
action agreed about children at MARAC meetings, are systematically followed 
up. There are good links between the MARAC and the multi-agency public 
protection arrangements (MAPPA). However, the sheer volume of referrals, 
which means that several of the 13 MARACs across the county are having to 
meet more than once a month, has prompted an urgent review. 

28. The local authority and partners have acted decisively to strengthen their 
collective response to children who go missing, child exploitation and child 
trafficking. It is too soon to evaluate the impact and effectiveness of the 
three new multi-agency exploitation teams, one in each locality. However, 
inspectors saw positive examples of risks being identified and managed 
appropriately. Children and young people, including children looked after, are 
being safeguarded and protected effectively. Robust action is also being 
taken to disrupt the activity of perpetrators. Good awareness of female 
genital mutilation, so called honour-based violence, and forced marriage 

Page 23



 
 

 
 

 14 
 

 

leads to prompt and robust action as soon as issues and concerns are first 
identified. 

29. Monthly multi-agency missing panels, although relatively new, consider the 
most high-risk children appropriately. A new missing from home coordinator 
post in the MASH has been created to coordinate an effective response. 
When children go missing from home or care, the majority are promptly 
offered return home interviews. The quality of return home interviews 
completed by dedicated workers in the exploitation teams is generally of a 
good standard, with information being used effectively to safeguard and 
protect children and young people. 

30. Effective arrangements are in place to try to ensure that no child who is 
missing education, or who is being home educated, falls through the net. The 
multi-agency children missing education panel provides effective oversight, 
ensuring prompt and appropriate action. The local authority has a tight 
handle on alternative education provision. Effective action is being taken to 
reduce permanent exclusions. The number of electively home educated 
children is falling (from 1500 to 1300 this year). 

31. Clear and well-understood referral pathways and effective channel panel 
arrangements mean that children and young people who are at risk of being 
radicalised are identified and appropriate action is taken to safeguard and 
protect them. 

32. There is good buy-in by all partners to the Lancashire homeless protocol, 
which means that the needs of 16- and 17-year olds who present as 
homeless are carefully assessed. In the majority of cases, this results in 
appropriate packages of care, accommodation and support.  

33. The health and well-being of the 24 children who have been identified as 
living in private fostering arrangements at the time of the inspection are 
regularly and suitably monitored by a dedicated worker. 

34. Allegations against people who work with children who are in a position of 
trust are well managed and rigorously investigated. Staff capacity has tripled 
from one to three designated officers, which has led to increased oversight 
and tracking of all cases. 

35. The local authority does not yet have a systematic way of capturing feedback 
from children and families about their experiences of help and protection. 
This limits their influence on the design, development and delivery of 
services. The availability of independent advocacy support for children and 
families involved in child protection procedures is too low. 

 
 

  

Page 24



 
 

 
 

 15 
 

 

The experiences and progress of 
children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Requires improvement 

Summary 
 
Services for children looked after have improved since the last inspection due to a 
number of recent developments. The formation of dedicated teams means that 
frontline social work practice is more child-focused in terms of engagement with 
children looked after by social workers who have manageable workloads and know 
their children well.  
 
Senior managers now convene regular and routine panels to make decisions about 
when children become looked after, and an outreach resource is available to 
prevent children coming into care. However, neither development is embedded 
across the county and there is not a consistent approach to pre-proceedings work. 

 
Effective partnership arrangements for the delivery of health assessments and 
plans are in place. Children’s educational outcomes are improving, although issues 
remain for teenagers. Effective systems for finding suitable care placements are 
now firmly in place and work well for most children. Measures are being taken to 
track and streamline planning for permanence, although these are not fully 
embedded.  
 
Effective placement finding has resulted in a very high number of children looked 
after living within the county, and this contributes positively to improved 
placement stability. Additional capacity within the IRO service is promoting greater 
compliance with statutory guidance for children. However, IROs are not 
sufficiently focused on the quality of casework. The quality of written assessments 
and care planning for children looked after does not do justice to the depth of 
social workers’ knowledge of their needs. As a result, the needs of some children 
looked after are not clearly stated in their plans, which can sometimes lead to a 
lack of clarity about what needs to happen. Participation and engagement of 
children in the processes underpinning their care experience is positively 
encouraged and supported. 
 
Recruitment of foster carers and connected carers is effectively completed by well-
managed panels, and support for carers is strong and highly valued by them. The 
adoption service is a strength, and there are robust arrangements in place for 
timely approval and post-adoption support. 

Services for care leavers have improved and are now compliant with statutory 
guidance, although they would be further enhanced by ensuring that all care 
leavers receive a consistent offer. 

 

Page 25



 
 

 
 

 16 
 

 

 
Inspection findings 
 

36. The development of specialist teams for children looked after and the 
recruitment of a dedicated workforce have resulted in manageable workloads 
for social workers, who visit children regularly and get to know them well. 
Social workers can clearly describe the lived experiences of children looked 
after, who they frequently visit more often than the statutory minimum. 

37. The outreach service is enhancing the offer of help for young people on the 
edge of care, with plans to open an adolescent support unit imminently. This 
will offer outreach and respite support to the most vulnerable families. 
Although their role is not fully visible across the service, outreach teams have 
improved the outcomes for a large and growing number of young people.  

38. Social work for families that takes place pre-proceedings under the Public Law 
Outline is not of a consistent quality, or completed to a standard format, and 
this can sometimes result in delays, initiating court proceedings.  

39. The current practice of senior management oversight for children becoming 
looked after is based on a tried and tested panel system, but is not 
consistently implemented across the county. When children become looked 
after at the request of their parents, using Section 20 of the Children Act 
1989, the rationale for this is not always clear. It can be difficult to establish 
from a child’s written record why they are looked after, and what the care 
episode is expected to achieve. 

40. Most children who become looked after are well matched with a suitable 
placement in the short term because of a well-integrated system of placement 
finding. The co-location of the family placement finder with the dedicated 
access to resources team means that social workers can be offered the option 
of two or more potential placements. High numbers of children looked after 
are placed in the Lancashire area and very few are placed outside of the 
county. This means that they can become looked after and retain their school 
placement, health arrangements and friendship groups. This positive feature 
contributes significantly to improved placement stability and sustainability for 
most children.  

41. Senior managers have used performance management effectively to 
understand sufficiency issues in relation to the complex needs of challenging 
young people, including those at risk of exploitation, and the impact of this on 
placement stability. A well-defined reconfiguration plan is currently being 
implemented, but it is too soon for it to show impact. When children return 
home to their families, the management decision-making is not always clearly 
recorded and the quality of written agreements with parents is inconsistent. It 
is not always clear to parents what they need to do to resume legal, as well 
as physical, care of their children. 

Page 26



 
 

 
 

 17 
 

 

42. Senior managers have recently undertaken an exercise to review a legacy of 
cases of children who are looked after and placed with parents when the care 
order could potentially be revoked. The exercise has effectively reduced the 
comparatively high numbers of children looked after in the county. However, 
due to issues within the discharge and revocation process, there is a backlog 
of cases. This means that there is a high number of cases of children 
identified for revocation which has not resulted in timely revocation hearings. 
As a result, plans to meet some children’s needs are drifting. 
(Recommendation)  

43. Due to a number of new posts being established in the IRO service, IROs now 
have manageable workloads. This means that they get to know children and 
regularly keep in touch with them in between reviews. IROs generally ensure 
that there is compliance with statutory guidance, and a well-understood 
escalation policy is frequently used to alert managers to any lapses. However, 
IROs are not challenging drift and delay in securing permanence with 
sufficient rigour. IROs are not doing enough to challenge the quality of 
written recording and to ensure that a viable, aspirational care plan exists for 
each child looked after. (Recommendation) 

44. Children’s voices come through clearly from social workers’ case notes. This 
mirrors the commitment of the county’s corporate parenting board to engage 
meaningfully with the children in care council, known as LINX. This is a well 
organised, vocal and visible group of young people whose voices are heard 
and listened to. Many children participate in their reviews and use of the 
social media communication app MOMO has increased, which ensures that 
IROs receive regular updates on children’s views prior to their review 
meetings. The achievements of children looked after are celebrated at the 
PROUD awards on an annual basis. 

45. Children in care are actively engaged in staff recruitment and provide input to 
the recruitment of foster carers, while delivering sessions at foster care 
training. Twenty-one members of LINX have been trained as young inspectors 
and undertake inspections of placement providers. 

46. Children have access to independent advocacy, although the number of 
advocates and independent visitors is disproportionately small compared to 
the size of the looked after population. Advocacy caseloads are too high, and 
this limits the ability of the service to reach out effectively to all children 
looked after.  

47. Updated assessments are routinely carried out. The needs of children looked 
after are appropriately reassessed when there is a planned change to their 
care plan. Most children have a current assessment on file, although these 
generally lack insightful analysis, and this does not reflect social workers’ in-
depth knowledge of the children on their caseloads  

Page 27



 
 

 
 

 18 
 

 

48. Care plans are too brief or sometimes lack aspiration for children by failing to 
set ambitious targets for their progress in care. Placement plans are rarely 
written to include sufficient detail, and most do not help carers to understand 
what they need to do to promote the welfare of children placed in their care.       

49. The local authority acknowledges that planning for children’s permanence is 
not consistently strong enough, except when they have a plan for adoption. 
Permanence is not always considered at the child’s second statutory review. 
Some plans for permanence are vague and are not always fully understood by 
children or their carers. Work to prepare children for permanence and to help 
them understand their life histories is not always undertaken as planned. 
Decisions that children will stay where they are living on a permanent basis 
are not always formally ratified. This means that children sometimes drift into 
long-term arrangements, and this creates confusion and uncertainty for them.  

50. The system for monitoring the progress of a wide range of permanence plans 
for children is not strong enough and does not consistently match the rigour 
that is generally applied to tracking plans for adoption. The role of the case 
progression manager is to provide support and direction for social workers 
and has begun to apply some consistency to practice. The local authority’s 
permanence panel is not fully functioning as intended. Plans to introduce 
placement stability meetings when there is a risk of an unplanned ending are 
not fully implemented. The local authority has created a permanence tracker, 
but it is not operational. (Recommendation) 

51. Improvements in partnership working with dedicated health professionals 
have increased the numbers of children receiving initial health assessments 
and have improved the effectiveness of health action plans. Children 
becoming looked after are often already in receipt of a service from child and 
adolescent mental health services, and this can be maintained or extended to 
support their emotional well-being in care. Children looked after also have 
additional access to the county’s own team of specialist professionals to 
support improvement in their mental health. This team is called supporting 
carers and young people together (SCAYT+).   

52. Many key stage 1 and 2 children looked after are making good progress from 
their starting points and their outcomes compare well with national averages. 
Attendance and good behaviour rates are high, with very few temporary, and 
no permanent, exclusions. Alternatively, too many young people at key stage 
4 do not make good progress. Attendance and behaviour issues remain 
serious challenges. Only a very small number of children gained five GCSEs at 
grade 9 to 4, including for English and mathematics. (Recommendation) 

53. The virtual school team has been strengthened, with key posts for early 
years, post-16 and looked after children who live out of county. Close tracking 
of children’s progress, attendance and emotional well-being is resulting in 
earlier identification of additional support or intervention needs. Additional 
funding is used well to ensure that there is appropriate support in schools. 

Page 28



 
 

 
 

 19 
 

 

Although most children and young people now have an up-to-date personal 
education plan, too many of these plans do not reflect the level and quality of 
information and planning needed to support children. 

54. Foster carers are well supported by their supervising social workers and feel 
highly valued by the local authority. They have good access to a wide range 
of training that is relevant to the needs of the children who they are looking 
after. Children routinely receive child-friendly welcome packs prior to living 
with their new foster carers, which ensures that they have a good level of 
information about the foster family to help them make the transition to their 
new home. Foster carers’ reviews are thorough, and are sharply focused on 
improvement and learning. There has been investment in a dedicated IRO 
post for foster carer reviews. Carers are empowered to make appropriate 
day-to-day decisions on behalf of children looked after.  

55. Carefully targeted recruitment has led to an overall increase in the pool of 
available foster carers. The quality of the assessments of connected person 
carers and special guardians, and the support they receive, is generally good, 
although, in a small number of cases, the specific support available to special 
guardians is not clearly recorded. The local authority’s fostering and adoption 
panels are well managed, suitably challenging and carry out their core 
functions well. The panel is not using its wider quality assurance role to help 
improve practice in relation to the quality of assessments and plans across 
the service. 

 
 

The graded judgement for adoption performance is that it is Good 

 
56. The local authority demonstrates an increasingly strong commitment to 

considering adoption for children when they cannot remain living within their 
birth families. The numbers of children adopted from care compares 
favourably with similar local authorities. This commitment to adoption extends 
whenever possible to older children, groups of brothers and sisters, and 
children with additional needs.  

57. Overall, children move promptly to live with their prospective adopters. 
Performance is improving and is now close to national targets. Sometimes, 
there is justifiable delay to ensure good outcomes for children, typically due 
to the specific, complex needs of individual children, or to allow brothers and 
sisters to stay together. Decisions to change plans away from adoption and 
the subsequent revocations of placement orders are timely and appropriate.  

58. There is, however, still unnecessary delay for a small number of children. This 
is more likely to occur at the early stage of permanence planning caused by, 
for example, the slow transfer of case responsibility from a locality team to 

Page 29



 
 

 
 

 20 
 

 

the centralised children awaiting adoption team. Occasionally, there are 
delays in submitting court applications or adoption panel papers. In a very 
small number of cases, work to prepare children for adoption does not begin 
soon enough. 

59. The successful use of concurrent planning and fostering for adoption has led 
to swift, positive outcomes for a growing number of children each year who, 
as a result, experience minimal disruption before moving to live with their 
adopters. In 2017/18, 28 such placements were made, compared to 19 in the 
previous year. An additional 15 early permanence carers were also recruited 
last year. 

60. The careful, balanced exploration of these options with all potential adopters 
contributes to the overall high quality of assessments, and an increased 
insight into how the skills of applicants best meet the diverse needs of 
children who require adoption. 

61. Activity to recruit adopters is inclusive, creative and focused on the identified 
needs of children in Lancashire. Recent ambitious recruitment targets have 
been exceeded. The recruitment and assessment team respond promptly and 
positively to a high volume of initial inquiries. Training for potential adopters 
is suitably challenging and is valued by those who attend, although the 
evaluation of the training is not sufficiently systematic or proactive to assist 
further improvement. 

62. Prospective adopters benefit from good continuity of support from skilled and 
knowledgeable adoption social workers. The dynamic and sensitive 
assessment process helps potential adopters to reflect, learn and develop. 
They progress at a measured, but timely, pace through the stages of 
assessment. Adopters feel that their social workers get to know and 
understand them very well, offering a level of continuity and support that has 
led to good assessments and matches with children.  

63. Prospective adopters’ reports for panel are of a reliably good quality and 
reflect the quality of assessments. The comprehensive, relevant information 
in the reports leads to good analysis of applicants’ strengths and 
vulnerabilities and promotes good decisions. The quality of children’s 
permanence reports, as the local authority acknowledges, is not as 
consistently good. The weaker reports tend to rely on description at the 
expense of analysis. They are too often repetitive and difficult to read. 

64. The service supports adopters to attend, and contribute, to the joint fostering 
and adoption panel meetings. Overall, the panel provides good oversight of 
the quality of adoption work and offers robust challenge when necessary. 
Panel records are concise and clear; the reasons for panel recommendations 
are well explained and the subsequent decisions are timely.  

65. Family finding for children who may require adoption begins at an 
appropriately early stage. On the rare occasions that there are no suitable 

Page 30



 
 

 
 

 21 
 

 

adopters within the county that can meet the needs of the child, referrals are 
made appropriately and promptly to the National Adoption Register and Link 
Maker. Work to identify suitable adopters is consistently rigorous, creative 
and persistent (including, for example, good use of exchange days, where 
information is shared with other local authorities), further contributing to 
good matches for children. Disruptions prior to the adoption order being 
made are extremely rare and there have been no unplanned endings to pre-
adoption placements in the last 12 months. 

66. In all but a very small number of cases, children’s moves from foster carers to 
their adoptive placement are managed very well. Skilled, committed foster 
carers are fully engaged in the plan and work well with adopters.  

67. Adoption social workers’ visits to adoption placements, including to those 
outside Lancashire, are regular and purposeful. Direct work to support 
children is well planned, suitably prioritised and effective. Life-story books are 
child-friendly, attractively presented and will help children understand their 
histories now or in the future. Adopters are encouraged and well supported to 
make good use of these materials.  

68. At all different stages of the process, adopters are clear about the agreed 
plan for support that is available and are confident that it will be provided 
promptly and effectively. A wide range of accessible and effective post-
adoption support is available, and support plans are based on robust needs 
assessments tailored effectively to individual circumstances and requirements.  

69. In particular, adopters and children benefit from bespoke therapeutic support, 
often in consultation with, or directly involving, the supporting carers and 
young people together service (SCAYT). Extensive use is made of the 
adoption support fund. Adopters also welcome the support received through 
group activities, such as ‘stay and play’ sessions for younger children, regular 
social events, and support groups. Adoption support groups have input from 
partner agencies, such as child and adolescent mental health services 
(CAMHS) and the virtual school head, which ensures that the emotional needs 
of children placed for adoption are responded to appropriately. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 
 

 
 

 22 
 

 

The graded judgement about the experience and progress of care 
leavers is that it is requires improvement 

 
70. Care leavers have a positive and confident view of the local authority as a 

corporate parent. They appreciate the higher profile they now have and the 
wider range of methods that their personal advisers use to keep in touch with 
them. This enables care leavers to find out a range of information. The 
majority of care leavers have good relationships with their personal advisers, 
giving examples of effective support with matters such as housing or 
attending health appointments. However, the quality of services is not 
consistently good for all care leavers. 

71. Most care leavers are clear about their entitlements through Youth Zone, a 
section of the council website. The leaving care grant has significantly 
increased, and council tax has been waived. However, financial procedures to 
give care leavers access to funds for housing deposits and home start-up 
costs are cumbersome and do not encourage the development of skills in 
making decisions and budgeting. Care leavers who live out of the county are 
particularly adversely affected by this.  

72. The local authority is now in touch with the vast majority of care leavers. 
Almost all care leavers have a pathway plan, but too many of these plans do 
not contain an up-to-date reflection of their situation. Pathway plans are often 
still statements of each care leaver’s situation rather than a key tool in 
planning their future. In one example, it was not possible to see how the 
young person had gained an apprenticeship with the authority, and in 
another, it was not possible to see how the young person had moved into 
independent housing. The quality of many plans require improvement to 
ensure that they are sharply focused on raising the aspirations and outcomes 
for care leavers. They also do not always include evidence-based analysis of 
each individual care leaver’s strengths and areas for development in order for 
them to achieve independence. For example, there might not be analysis of 
the impact of a young person’s complex emotional needs. As such, pathway 
plans are not always based on a thorough analysis of individual needs and 
strengths, nor do they contain effective timescales.  

73. Although preparation for independence is improving, there are not enough 
care leavers being effectively encouraged to engage in the development of a 
programme to support and recognise skills for independence. 

74. The profile of care leavers is much improved. Care leavers attend and have a 
presence at the corporate parenting board and scrutiny panel. They also 
deliver events about their experiences and are consulted about the 
development of a new offer to care leavers. Although some care leavers have 
been actively involved in creative projects such as ‘Sincerely You’, too few are 
being supported or encouraged to be actively involved in care leavers’ groups. 
‘Sincerely You’ was a good practice initiative that involved 60 care leavers 

Page 32



 
 

 
 

 23 
 

 

writing letters to their former selves to highlight the impact of the care 
experience on young people. These letters were exhibited around the county 
in public buildings and they are appropriately used in foster care training and 
within the social work academy to raise awareness.  

75. The number of care leavers in suitable accommodation has risen to 91% 
(April 2018). The small number who are in unsuitable accommodation are 
nearly all in custody. The number of care leavers staying put with former 
foster carers has increased significantly to 54 and is above national averages. 
Improving housing options for care leavers is at the heart of current 
renegotiations with housing providers, in recognition of poor availability in 
some areas.  

76. The local authority is now developing a much more strategic approach to 
engaging more young people in education and training, although this is still in 
the early stages of development. Increasing numbers of over-16s have a 
personal education plan. Almost all young people in care at age 16 were in 
education, employment and training in September 2017. At the time of 
inspection, two thirds of this group were still in education, employment or 
training. However, less than half of care leavers aged 19 to 21 are still in 
education, employment or training, which is too low. (Recommendation) 

77. A dedicated employment support team for children looked after and care 
leavers (aged 14–25) works proactively with the leaving care service to 
support young people into education, employment or training. Sixteen care 
leavers are now employed as apprentices, with a number in the local 
authority, including several in innovative roles supporting the leaving care 
teams. Forty-eight care leavers are in higher education. Additional funding is 
being used well to support care leavers through help with transport costs, 
purchase of equipment and in supplementing very low wages. The recent 
pilot of NEET panels, forums for the range of professionals involved with a 
care leaver, is providing a useful approach to try to identity more effective 
strategies to re-engage young people.  

78. Almost all care leavers have information about their health and know how to 
access services. All are registered with a doctor and most are registered with 
a dentist. There is too long a wait for appointments for CAMHS and too many 
occasions when a young person in serious need is denied a further 
appointment if they fail to attend. Different thresholds for access to adult 
mental health services means that too many young adults are not receiving 
the support they need in a timely way.   

 
 

  

Page 33



 
 

 
 

 24 
 

 

Leadership, management and 
governance 

Requires improvement 

Summary 
 
Lancashire was slow to respond to the findings from the previous inspection. 
However, steps have now been taken to improve services for children and, as a 
result, services are no longer inadequate. 
 
There has been a number of significant strategic leadership changes over the past 
months. These include a change in the chief executive, the appointment of an 
executive director of education and children’s services (DCS) and the creation of a 
new deputy DCS role. Although these are interim appointments, the transitions 
have been managed well and have contributed to the increased pace of change. 
Senior managers, the chief executive and political leaders are aware of, and are 
acting on, their respective responsibilities and the priorities for children’s services.  
 
Strategic plans are now better aligned, and partnerships in key agencies are 
working more effectively. Commissioning arrangements across the local authority 
have improved since the time of the last inspection because they are now 
informed by more reliable business data and financial intelligence. 
 
The workforce strategy is effective and well supported by corporate council 
services. There is now a better balance of newly qualified and experienced staff. A 
variety of measures are used effectively to recruit and retain staff. For example, 
Lancashire’s children’s services awards have been established to recognise 
innovation and skills. This is an improving picture for Lancashire and retention 
rates have improved in the past year. 
  
The quality assurance framework, which includes auditing activity, is more 
effective and reliable than it was at the time of the last inspection. The local 
authority’s self-evaluation recognises that the quality of practice, while 
improving, is variable across the county. There is now a clearer focus on 
improving outcomes for children and developing purposeful practice. 
 
The local authority’s approach to performance management is still a work in 
progress. Although increasingly accurate and well presented in most areas, 
frontline managers are not always using information and data as dynamic 
tools to measure progress, explore gaps, patterns and trends. This limits the 
ability of senior leaders to provide effective challenge by holding middle and 
senior managers fully to account. (Recommendation) 
 

Progress in developing an effective early help service in collaboration with partner 
agencies has been too slow. Services to help children and families experiencing 
domestic abuse are underdeveloped and do not focus on preventing and reducing 
incidents of abuse. 

Page 34



 
 

 
 

 25 
 

 

 
Inspection findings  
 

79. Senior managers, the chief executive and political leaders are aware of their 
respective responsibilities and the priorities for children’s services. Additionally, 
the recently improved visibility and communication from senior leaders has 
given staff a renewed confidence and energy in their efforts to improve 
services. Ofsted monitoring visits have been effectively used by staff at all 
levels to reflect on progress, and to make appropriate changes. The recent 
joint local area special educational needs (SEN) and/or disabilities inspection 
in Lancashire identified significant areas of weakness in the local area’s 
practice, which has triggered a much-needed change programme for the 
support offered to disabled children and their families.  

80. The interim executive DCS is an experienced leader whose consistent 
approach to the role has been highly valued by staff at all levels. The interim 
deputy DCS has an impressive knowledge of the frontline practice and knows 
services well. Evidence of their impact can be seen in children’s case auditing, 
which has improved and now accurately highlights areas of strength, and 
when practice needs to improve. It was reassuring to find that the local 
authority’s own audit findings closely corresponded to the findings of 
inspectors. Key points for learning are routinely identified and shared with 
staff through the quality assurance process. This is beginning to make a 
positive difference in the quality of practice, although greater consistency is 
not yet in place across the service. 

81. Managers now have a good understanding of the issues which impact on 
attracting and retaining social workers. Work to improve recruiting and 
retaining social workers has had some impact. However, it remains the case 
that because of staff turnover, a significant number of children still experience 
too many changes of social worker. 

82. The authority is involved in a teaching partnership with the University of 
Central Lancashire (UCLAN). Seventy-three family support workers will 
participate in the social work degree apprenticeship scheme, which will see 
them qualify in three years. Additionally, Lancashire county council 
successfully encourages students in their final placements to stay. Currently, 
70% of students are successfully applying and staying in the service. This, 
when viewed alongside excellent retention rates for social workers in their 
assessed and supported year of employment, means that the pressures on the 
workforce are easing. 

83. The social work academy, launched in September 2017, was originally focused 
on providing a thorough two-week induction programme. This has now been 
enhanced to include call back days, learning briefings and mandatory sessions 
delivered by advanced practitioners. The leadership academy launched in April 
2018 involves internal and external training modules. Although it is too soon 
to see the results of this programme, it is evidence of Lancashire’s ambition to 

Page 35



 
 

 
 

 26 
 

 

become a learning organisation, and staff welcome the development 
opportunities.   

84. More locally based management structures are helping closer oversight of 
practice. While this has mainly focused on compliance, there is evidence that 
it is contributing to the gradual improvement in quality of practice. These 
structures do not bring clarity and uniformity to procedure and decision-
making. Structures are currently different across districts. Some staff with the 
same role have different job titles and this can be confusing, especially for 
families and partner agencies. 

85. Partnerships such as the health and well-being board and the local 
safeguarding children’s board (LSCB) are working well together to progress 
different issues that impact on children and their families, for example 
domestic abuse, which is an appropriate priority for both boards. Governance 
arrangements with the LSCB are well established and include regular, effective 
meetings between the independent chair and the DCS. 

86. Multi-agency strategic partnerships have been strengthened in order to enable 
a shared approach. The impact of this can be seen in a more effective MASH 
and increased attendance at core groups and strategy discussions. However, 
there is further work to do to increase partners’ knowledge and understanding 
and fully engage them in coordinating services for children. 

87. The children’s services commissioning plan is not sufficiently strong. While 
informed by a thorough joint strategic needs analysis (JSNA), the overarching 
commissioning plan is currently informed by the health and well-being board 
strategy but does not focus sufficiently on the needs of children. It does, 
however, include starting life well, early years provision and care leavers as 
priority areas. Other commissioning developments include emotional health 
and well-being training being delivered to school staff, and a sharper focus on 
commissioning services for children with disabilities following 
recommendations from the recent SEN and/or disabilities inspection. 

88. Domestic abuse services are currently commissioned through the police and 
crime commissioner’s board. Children’s services contribute financially to this 
agenda and pay for victim support to work with families. However, there is a 
lack of effective work with perpetrators of domestic abuse, and not enough 
targeted support for children who are experiencing domestic abuse in their 
home. (Recommendation) 

89. Lancashire suspended its children and young people’s (CYP) trust board 
approximately 12 months ago. The children’s services improvement board and 
LSCB have focused on strategic change and joint planning. There is a CYP 
plan in place that is currently being refreshed following consultation with 
young people and partner agencies. 

90. Innovative projects, such as developing a bid for a social impact bond to 
commission work with children on the edge of care to keep them at home 

Page 36



 
 

 
 

 27 
 

 

with their families, are in development. Additionally, work by the 
commissioning team to identify children who could safely transition from 
residential care into specialist foster placements is underway and is enabling 
children to live in families when possible. These plans could be further 
strengthened by ensuring that IROs and managers from social care are more 
involved in their development, to ensure that children’s views are fully 
represented, and that best practice is considered, in addition to best value.   

91. Senior partners in the legal process, such as the designated family judge and 
the local Children and Family Court advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS) 
manager, state that the county’s performance in court has recently improved. 
The introduction of a rigorous quality assurance process by the legal 
department aims to ensure that documentation presented to court is of 
acceptable content and quality. However, the quality and timeliness of pre-
proceedings work remain inconsistent. 

92. The local authority has an effective corporate parenting board. By adopting an 
innovative and creative approach to meetings with children and young people, 
the board has engaged and enthused its members, who are clearly committed 
to improving the lives of children looked after. The board does not have 
sufficiently robust reporting and governance arrangements so that it can 
evidence the impact of the work it undertakes. 

93. Learning from serious case reviews is not having sufficient impact on practice. 
While there has been some work undertaken to examine themes and trends, 
such as concealed or denied pregnancy, this has not led to an effective, and 
timely, multi-agency plan to improve recognition and support for the most 
vulnerable pregnant women.  

94. Complaints are largely addressed at an early stage, avoiding recourse to 
formal investigations. The complaints team works closely with the advocacy 
service to identify formal and informal routes for resolving issues quickly. 
Recurring themes concern assessment quality, communication with social 
workers and information sharing. Learning from complaints is disseminated 
appropriately by a team of advanced practitioners who hold workshops with 
staff. 

95. Social workers’ caseloads have reduced overall, although some social workers 
continue to have high workloads. Staff supervision is regular, detailed and 
appropriately focused on learning and development. It is also increasingly 
reflective, with opportunities to study cases in depth. However, the impact of 
workload pressures is not clearly documented nor addressed to further 
support improvements in practice. 

96. The quality and value of performance data was an issue at the previous 
inspection and, while there has been improvement in this area, it remains a 
work in progress that the local authority continues to address. Although 
increasingly accurate and well presented in most areas, frontline managers 

Page 37



 
 

 
 

 28 
 

 

are not always using information and data as a dynamic tool to measure 
progress, explore gaps, patterns and trends. (Recommendation)  

 

Information about this inspection 
 
Inspectors have looked closely at the experiences of children and young people who 
have needed or still need help and/or protection. This also includes children and 
young people who are looked after and young people who are leaving care and 
starting their lives as young adults. 
 
Inspectors considered the quality of work and the difference adults make to the lives 
of children, young people and families. They read case files, watched how 
professional staff work with families and each other and discussed the effectiveness 
of help and care given to children and young people. Wherever possible, they talked 
to children, young people and their families. In addition, the inspectors have tried to 
understand what the local authority knows about how well it is performing, how well 
it is doing and what difference it is making for the people who it is trying to help, 
protect and look after. 
 
The inspection of the local authority was carried out under section 136 of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 
 
The inspection team consisted of eight of Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) from 
Ofsted. 
 
The inspection team 
 
Lead inspector: Lorna Schlechte, Her Majesty’s Inspector 
 
Deputy lead inspector: Sue Myers, Her Majesty’s Inspector 
 
Team inspectors:  
Nigel Parkes, HMI 
Ian Young, HMI 
Matthew Brazier, HMI 
Kathryn Townsley, Ofsted Inspector 
Cathy Blair, Ofsted Inspector 
Diane Partridge, HMI (Desigate) 
 
 
 
Senior data analyst: Stewart Hartshorne 
 
Quality assurance manager: Jenny Turnross, Senior Her Majesty’s Inspector 
   

Page 38



 
 

 
 

 29 
 

 

 
 
Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out in 
the guidance ‘Raising concerns and making complaints about Ofsted’, which is available from Ofsted’s 

website: www.gov.uk/government/publications/complaints-about-ofsted. If you would like Ofsted to 
send you a copy of the guidance, please telephone 0300123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects 

to achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for 
learners of all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children’s social care and inspects the 

Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher 

training, further education and skills, adult and community learning, and education and training in 
prisons and other secure establishments. It inspects services for looked after children and child 

protection. 
If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 

telephone 0300 123 1231, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 
You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under 

the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit 

www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence, write to the Information Policy Team, 
The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted. 
Interested in our work? You can subscribe to our monthly newsletter for more information and 

updates: http://eepurl.com/iTrDn. 

 
Piccadilly Gate 

Store St 
Manchester 

M1 2WD 

T: 0300 123 4234 
Textphone: 0161 618 8524 

E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
W: www.ofsted.gov.uk 

© Crown copyright 2017 
 

Page 39

file:///D:/CACI/LIVE/OBDATA/G1/P1/L1/OB_LIVE/_PH_/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///D:/CACI/LIVE/OBDATA/G1/P1/L1/OB_LIVE/_PH_/www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence
file:///D:/CACI/LIVE/OBDATA/G1/P1/L1/OB_LIVE/_PH_/psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://eepurl.com/iTrDn


Page 40



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee
Meeting to be held on Wednesday, 10 October 2018

Electoral Division affected:
(All Divisions);

Child Health - Lancashire
(Appendix A refers)

Contact for further information:
Clare Platt, Head of Health Equity, Welfare & Partnerships, 
clare.platt@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary

Public Health England (PHE) produces an annual Child Health Profile (Appendix A) 
as a tool designed to help local government and health services identify key issues 
which need addressing to improve the health and wellbeing of children and tackle 
health inequalities. The report and appendix highlight a range issues relevant to 
child health and wellbeing in Lancashire.

Recommendation

The Children's Services Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider the issues 
discussed in the report / appendix and identify any issues they may wish to focus on 
in more detail at a future meeting.

Background and Advice 

Public Health England (PHE) produces an annual Child Health Profile (Appendix A) 
as a tool designed to help local government and health services identify key issues 
which need addressing to improve the health and wellbeing of children and tackle 
health inequalities.

The report identifies that overall, comparing local indicators with England averages, 
the health and wellbeing of children in Lancashire is mixed. In particular it highlights:

 The infant mortality rate is similar to England with an annual average of 59 
infants dying before one year of age. For children and young people aged 1-
17 years there have been 38 child deaths each year on average (2014-2016).

 The teenage pregnancy rate (under 18 conceptions) is worse than England, 
with 440 girls becoming pregnant in a year (2016), although the trend is 
improving.

 The percentage of women who smoke while pregnant (14.7%) is worse than 
England (2016/17), although the trend is improving. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



 The measles, mumps, and rubella (MMR) immunisation level does not meet 
recommended coverage of 95%. By two years of age, 91.5% of children in 
Lancashire have had their first dose (2016/17).

 Dental health is worse than England, with 34.0% of 5 year olds having one or 
more decayed, filled or missing teeth (2016/17).

 The percentage of obese children in Reception (4-5 years), at 9.6%, is similar 
to England; and the percentage of obese children in Year 6 (10-11 years) at 
18.9%, is better than England (2016/17).

 The rate of child inpatient admissions for mental health conditions at 108.6 
per 100,000 (268 cases) is worse than England. The rate for self-harm at 
419.0 per 100,000 (906 cases) is similar to England (2016/17).

 The level of child poverty is better than England with 15.6% of children aged 
under 16 years living in poverty (families in receipt of out of work benefits or 
tax credits where their reported income is 60% median income) (2015)

 The statutory rate of family homelessness is better than the England average 
(2016/17).

 Over a three year period, 229 children were killed or seriously injured on the 
roads, a worse rate than England (2014-16).

The data used by PHE is collated at a Lancashire County level. It should be noted 
that this will mask wide variations in outcomes between and within the different 
districts of Lancashire.

Members are requested to consider the issues discussed in the report / appendix 
and identify any issues they may wish to focus on in more detail at a future meeting.

Consultations

N/A

Implications: 

This item has the following implications, as indicated:

Risk management

N/A

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Tel

N/A

Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate

N/A

Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Child Health Profile

June 2018

The child population in this area Key findings

Region England

13,183 86,069 663,157

68,400 442,900 3,429,000

 5.7%  6.1%  6.2%

277,000 1,708,600 13,107,000

 23.1%  23.7%  23.7%

283,100 1,769,600 14,065,900

 23.1%  23.7%  23.8%

27,586 204,296 2,132,802

 18.7%  22.2%  31.0%

2,835 24,164 186,793

 1.7%  2.2%  2.3%

Boys 78.7 78.2 79.5

Girls 82.2 81.7 83.1

Children living in poverty

This profile provides a snapshot of child health in this area. It is designed to help local government and health services 

improve the health and wellbeing of children and tackle health inequalities.

Lancashire

The level of child poverty is better than England 

with 15.6% of children aged under 16 years 

living in poverty. The rate of family 

homelessness is better than the England 

average.

Over a three year period, 229 children were 

killed or seriously injured on the roads. This 

gives a worse rate than England. 

Overall, comparing local indicators with England 

averages, the health and wellbeing of children in 

Lancashire is mixed.

The infant mortality rate is similar to England 

with an average of 59 infants dying before age 1 

each year.  Recently there have been 38 child 

deaths (1-17 year olds) each year on average.

Public health interventions can improve child 

health at a local level. In this area:

•  The teenage pregnancy rate is worse than 

England, with 440 girls becoming pregnant in 

a year.

•  14.7% of women smoke while pregnant 

which is worse than England. 

•  Breastfeeding data is not available for this 

area.

•  The MMR immunisation level does not 

meet recommended coverage (95%). By age 

two, 91.5% of children have had one dose.

•  Dental health is worse than England. 34.0% 

of 5 year olds have one or more decayed, 

filled or missing teeth.

•  9.6% of children in Reception (similar to 

England) and 18.9% of children in Year 6 

(better than England) are obese.

•  The rate of child inpatient admissions for 

mental health conditions at 108.6 per 100,000 

is worse than England.The rate for self-harm 

at 419.0 per 100,000 is similar to England.

Children living in poverty 

aged under 16 years (2015)

School pupils with social, 

emotional and mental health 

needs (2017)

Local

Live births (2016)

Children aged 0 to 4 years 

(2016)

Children aged 0 to 19 years 

(2016)

Children aged 0 to 19 years 

in 2026 (projected)

School children from minority 

ethnic groups (2017)

 15.6%  18.7%  16.8%

Life expectancy at 

birth (2014-2016)

Map of the North West, with Lancashire outlined, showing the 

relative levels of children living in poverty.

Lancashire - June 2018 chimat@phe.gov.uk | www.gov.uk/phe | https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/

Map contains Ordnance Survey data. 

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format 

or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0. To view 

this licence, visit OGL or email psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.  Where we 

have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain 

permission from the copyright holders concerned.

Page 45

Appendix A



Lancashire Child Health Profile June 2018

Childhood obesity

Young people and alcohol Young people's mental health

Nationally, the rate of hospital admissions of children and 

young people for conditions wholly related to alcohol is 

decreasing, and this is also the case in Lancashire. The 

admission rate in the latest period is worse than the 

England average.

Nationally, the rate of young people being admitted to 

hospital as a result of self-harm is increasing. This is not 

the case in Lancashire where the trend is decreasing. 

However, the admission rate in the latest pooled period 

remains higher than the England average*. Nationally, 

levels of self-harm are higher among young women than 

young men.

These charts show the percentage of children who have excess weight (obese or overweight) in Reception (aged 4-5 

years) and Year 6 (aged 10-11 years).  They compare Lancashire with its statistical neighbours, and the England 

average.  Compared with the England average, this area has a worse percentage of children in Reception (23.5%) and 

a better percentage in Year 6 (33.0%) who have excess weight.

Children aged 4-5 years who have excess weight, 2016/17 (percentage)

Children aged 10-11 years who have excess weight, 2016/17 (percentage)

Note: This analysis uses the 85th and 95th centiles of the British 1990 growth reference (UK90) for BMI to classify children as overweight and obese.  

   indicates 95% confidence interval.

Hospital admissions of children and young people 

for conditions wholly related to alcohol (rate per 

100,000 population aged 0-17 years)

Young people aged 10 to 24 years admitted to 

hospital as a result of self-harm (rate per 100,000 

population aged 10-24 years)

*Information about admissions in the single year 2016/17 can be found on page 4

chimat@phe.gov.uk | www.gov.uk/phe | https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/Lancashire - June 2018 

0 10 20 30 40 50

Bury

Derbyshire

Calderdale

Nottinghamshire

Lancashire

England

   

0

40

80

120

160

2010/11 -
12/13

2011/12 -
13/14

2012/13 -
14/15

2013/14 -
15/16

2014/15 -
16/17

England Lancashire

0 10 20 30 40 50

Bury

Derbyshire

Calderdale

Nottinghamshire

Lancashire

England

  

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

11/12-13/14 12/13-14/15 13/14-15/16 14/15-16/17

England Lancashire

Obese All children with excess weight, some of whom are obese              

I 

Page 46



Lancashire Child Health Profile June 2018

The shaded area from 1,900 shows the range of values approaching the minimum 

recommended rate of 2,300 (the black line).

These charts compare Lancashire with its statistical neighbours, and the England and regional averages.

Teenage conceptions in girls aged under 18 

years, 2016 (rate per 1,000 female population 

aged 15-17 years)

Chlamydia detection, 2016 (rate per 100,000 

young people aged 15-24 years)

In 2016, approximately 22 girls aged under 18 

conceived for every 1,000 girls aged 15-17 years in 

this area. This is similar to the regional average 

(approximately 22 per 1,000). The area has a higher 

teenage conception rate compared with the England 

average (approximately 19 per 1,000).

Chlamydia screening is recommended for all sexually 

active 15-24 year olds. Increasing detection rates 

indicates better targeting of screening activity; it is not a 

measure of prevalence. Areas should work towards a 

detection rate of at least 2,300 per 100,000 population. In 

2016, the detection rate in this area was 2,101 which is 

approaching the minimum recommended rate.

Lancashire - June 2018 chimat@phe.gov.uk | www.gov.uk/phe | https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/

Breastfeeding at 6 to 8 weeks, 2016/17 

(percentage of infants due 6 to 8 week checks)

Measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) 

vaccination coverage by age 2 years, 2016/17 

(percentage of eligible children)

Breastfeeding data is not available for this area. Slightly less than 95% (the minimum recommended 

coverage level) of children have received their first 

dose of immunisation by the age of two in this area 

(91.5%).  By the age of five, only 85.1% of children 

have received their second dose of MMR 

immunisation.

Note: Where data is not available or figures have been suppressed, no bar will appear in the chart for that area.

The shaded area from 90% shows the range of values approaching the 

minimum recommended coverage of 95%  (the black line).

0 10 20 30 40 50

Bury

Derbyshire

Calderdale

Nottinghamshire

Lancashire

North West

England
   

0 20 40 60 80 100

Bury

Derbyshire

Calderdale

Nottinghamshire

Lancashire

North West

England

0 20 40 60 80 100

Bury

Derbyshire

Calderdale

Nottinghamshire

Lancashire

North West

England
   

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000

Bury

Derbyshire

Calderdale

Nottinghamshire

Lancashire

North West

England

Page 47



Lancashire Child Health Profile June 2018

 

Local 

value

Eng. 

ave.

Eng. 

worst

Eng. 

best

 1 Infant mortality i 59 4.5 3.9 7.9 1.6

 2 Child mortality rate (1-17 years)  38 16.0 11.6 22.4 6.2

 3 MMR vaccination for one dose (2 years) i 12,035 91.5 91.6 69.8 97.5

 4 Dtap / IPV / Hib vaccination (2 years) i 12,385 94.2 95.1 74.7 98.6

 5 Children in care immunisations h 1,170 90.6 84.6 5.0 100.0

 6 Children achieving a good level of development at the end of reception h 9,757 69.4 70.7 60.9 78.9

 7 GCSE attainment: average Attainment 8 score  - 45.7 44.6 37.6 56.2

 8 GCSE attainment: average Attainment 8 score of children in care  - 22.0 22.8 12.1 34.2

 9 16-17 year olds not in education, employment or training  2,250 8.6 6.0 44.8 2.1

10 First time entrants to the youth justice system i 242 228.3 327.1 739.6 97.5

11 Children in low income families (under 16 years) i 33,150 15.6 16.8 30.5 6.1

12 Family homelessness i 180 0.4 1.9 8.4 0.1

13 Children in care h 1,850 75 62 184 20

14 Children killed and seriously injured (KSI) on England’s roads  76 35.0 17.1 46.8 1.3

15 Low birth weight of term babies 1 338 2.8 2.8 5.2 1.3

16 Obese children (4-5 years) 1 1,286 9.6 9.6 13.5 4.8

17 Obese children (10-11 years) h 2,356 18.9 20.0 29.2 11.3

18 Children with one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth  - 34.0 23.3 47.1 12.9

19 Hospital admissions for dental caries (0-4 years)  341 496.0 234.7 1,144.8 25.3

20 Under 18 conceptions i 440 22.4 18.8 36.5 4.6

21 Teenage mothers i 132 1.0 0.8 2.1 0.0

22 Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions - under 18s i 122 49.8 34.2 100.0 6.5

23 Hospital admissions due to substance misuse (15-24 years)  182 120.3 89.8 339.0 32.1

24 Smoking status at time of delivery i 1,779 14.7 10.7 28.1 2.3

25 Breastfeeding initiation  - - 74.5 37.9 96.7

26 Breastfeeding prevalence at 6-8 weeks after birth  - - 44.4 19.3 75.6

27 A&E attendances (0-4 years) h 39,024 570.4 601.8 1,926.8 333.5

28 Hospital admissions caused by injuries in children (0-14 years) 1 2,918 141.6 101.5 190.5 43.3

29 Hospital admissions caused by injuries in young people (15-24 years) i 1,747 117.0 129.2 254.8 64.0

30 Hospital admissions for asthma (under 19 years) i 782 299.6 202.8 497.5 63.6

31 Hospital admissions for mental health conditions 1 268 108.6 81.5 188.8 14.3

32 Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm (10-24 years) i 906 419.0 404.6 1,156.8 98.2

The chart below shows how children's health and wellbeing in this area compares with the rest of England. The local result for each indicator is shown as a 

circle, against the range of results for England shown as a grey bar. The line at the centre of the chart shows the England average. 

Local no.

per year*

P
re

m
at

ur
e 

m
or

ta
lit

y

H
e
a
lt
h
 

p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

W
id

e
r 

d
e
te

rm
in

a
n
ts

 o
f 

ill
 h

e
a
lt
h

H
e
a
lt
h

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

P
re

v
e
n
ti
o

n

 o
f 

ill
 h

e
a
lt
h

Lancashire - June 2018 chimat@phe.gov.uk | www.gov.uk/phe | https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/

     ≥95%     <90% 
     90% to 95% 

25th 
percentile 

England average 

 Significantly worse than England average 

Not significantly different from the England average 

Significantly better than England average Regional average 

1 Mortality rate per 1,000 live births (aged under 1 year), 
2014-2016 

2 Directly standardised rate per 100,000 children aged  
1-17 years, 2014-2016 

3 % children immunised against measles, mumps and 
rubella (first dose by age 2 years), 2016/17 

4 % children completing a course of immunisation 
against diphtheria, tetanus, polio, pertussis and Hib by 
age 2 years, 2016/17 

5 % children in care with up-to-date immunisations, 2017 

6 % children achieving a good level of development 
within Early Years Foundation Stage Profile, 2016/17   

7 GCSE attainment: average attainment 8 score, 2016/17 

8 GCSE attainment attainment: average attaiment 8 
score of children looked after, 2016 

9 % not in education, employment or training (NEET) or 
whose activity is not known as a proportion of total 16-17 
year olds known to local authority, 2016 

10 Rate per 100,000 of 10-17 year olds receiving their 
first reprimand, warning or conviction, 2016 

 
 

 

11 % of children aged under 16 years living in families in 
receipt of out of work benefits or tax credits where their 
reported income is less than 60% median income, 2015 

12 Statutory homeless households with dependent 
children or pregnant women per 1,000 households, 
2016/17 

13 Rate of children looked after at 31 March per 10,000 
population aged under 18 years, 2017  

14 Crude rate of children aged 0-15 years who were 
killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents per 
100,000 population, 2014-2016 

15 Percentage of live-born babies, born at term, weighing 
less than 2,500 grams, 2016 

16 % school children in Reception year classified as 
obese, 2016/17 

17 % school children in Year 6 classified as obese, 
2016/17 

18 % children aged 5 years with one or more decayed, 
missing or filled teeth, 2016/17 

19 Crude rate per 100,000 (aged 0-4 years) for hospital 
admissions for dental caries, 2014/15-2016/17 
20 Under 18 conception rate per 1,000 females aged  
15-17 years, 2016 

21 % of delivery episodes where the mother is aged less 
than 18 years, 2016/17 
22 Hospital admissions for  alcohol-specific conditions – 
under 18 year olds, crude rate per 100,000 population, 
2014/15-2016/17 
23 Directly standardised rate per 100,000 (aged 15-24 
years) for hospital admissions for substance misuse, 
2014/15-2016/17  

24 % of mothers smoking at time of delivery, 2016/17 

25 % of mothers initiating breastfeeding, 2016/17 

26 % of mothers breastfeeding at  6-8 weeks, 2016/17 

27 Crude rate per 1,000 (aged 0-4 years) of A&E 
attendances, 2016/17 

28 Crude rate per 10,000 (aged 0-14 years) for 
emergency hospital admissions following injury, 2016/17 

29 Crude rate per 10,000 (aged 15-24 years) for 
emergency hospital admissions following injury, 2016/17 

30 Crude rate per 100,000 (aged 0-18 years) for 
emergency hospital admissions for asthma, 2016/17 

31 Crude rate per 100,000 (aged 0-17 years) for hospital 
admissions for mental health, 2016/17 

32 Directly standardised rate per 100,000 (aged 10-24 
years) for hospital admissions for self-harm, 2016/17 

75th 
percentile 

Notes and definitions  

1 

i h 

h i 

 

No significant change 

Increasing / decreasing and getting better 

Increasing / decreasing and getting worse 

Trend cannot be calculated 

*Numbers in italics are calculated by dividing the total number for the three year period by three to give an average figure 

Indicator 

Where data is not available or figures have been suppressed, this is indicated by a dash in the appropriate box 

Significance cannot be tested 

Page 48



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee
Meeting to be held on Wednesday, 10 October 2018

Electoral Division affected:
(All Divisions);

Children's Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19
(Appendix 'A' refers)

Contact for further information:
Samantha Parker, Tel: 01772538221, Senior Democratic Services Officer, 
sam.parker@lancashire.gov.uk

Executive Summary

The work programme for the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee is attached at 
Appendix 'A'.

The topics included were identified at the work planning workshop held on 10 July
2018.

Recommendation

The Children's Services Scrutiny Committee is asked to:

i. Note and comment on the report and work programme;
ii. Consider topics not yet scheduled;
iii. Discuss and confirm any further topics required and reasons for scrutiny.

Background and Advice 

A statement of the work to be undertaken and considered by the Children's Services 
Scrutiny Committee for the 2018/19 municipal year is set out at Appendix 'A'.

The work programme will be presented to each meeting for consideration.
The new work programme includes topics to be discussed at committee meetings, 
events, task groups, rapporteur work, briefing notes and training for members.

To support mechanisms to report back on actions and progress of 
recommendations, members are requested to note that two further columns have 
been included in the programme to enable more effective monitoring.

Members are requested to note and comment on the report, consider topics not yet 
scheduled and to discuss and confirm any further topics.

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



Consultations

NA

Implications: 

This item has the following implications, as indicated:

Risk management

This report has no significant risk implications.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper Date Contact/Tel

NA NA NA

Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate

NA

Page 50



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19

The Children's Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme details the planned activity to be undertaken over the forthcoming 
municipal year through scheduled Committee meetings, task group, events and through use of the 'rapporteur' model.

The items on the work programme are determined by the Committee following the work programming session at the start of the 
municipal year in line with the Overview and Scrutiny Committees terms of reference detailed in the County Councils Constitution.  
This includes provision for the rights of County Councillors to ask for any matter to be considered by the Committee or to call-in 
decisions.

Coordination of the work programme activity is undertaken by the Chair and Deputy Chair of all of the Scrutiny Committees to avoid 
potential duplication. 

In addition to the terms of reference outlined in the Constitution (Part 2 Article 5) for all Overview and Scrutiny Committees, the 
Children's Services Scrutiny Committee will:

 Scrutinise matters relating to services for Children and Young People delivered by the authority and other relevant partners
 Review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health service in the area and make 

reports and recommendations to NHS bodies as appropriate
 Invite interested parties when reviewing any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health service in 

the area, to comment on the matter and take account of relevant information available, particularly that provided by the Local 
Healthwatch

 Review and scrutinise any local services planned or provided by other agencies which contribute towards the health 
improvement and the reduction of health inequalities in Lancashire and to make recommendations to those agencies, as 
appropriate

 Take steps to reach agreement with NHS body, in the case of contested NHS proposals for substantial service changes
 Refer a matter to the relevant Secretary of State in the case of contested NHS proposals for substantial service changes 

where agreement cannot be reached with the NHS
 Refer to the relevant Secretary of State any NHS proposal which the Committee feels has been the subject of inadequate 

consultation

P
age 51

A
ppendix A

http://mgintranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=914&MId=2916&Ver=4&info=1&bcr=1


 Scrutinise the social care services provided or commissioned by NHS bodies exercising local authority functions under 
Section 31 of the Health Act 1999

 Draw up a forward programme of health scrutiny in consultation with other local authorities, NHS partners, the Local 
Healthwatch and other key stakeholders

 Acknowledge within 20 working days to referrals on relevant matters from the Local Healthwatch or Local Healthwatch 
contractor, and to keep the referrer informed of any action taken in relation to the matter

 Require the Chief Executives of local NHS bodies to attend before the Committee to answer questions, and to invite the 
chairs and non-executive directors of local NHS bodies to appear before the Committee to give evidence

 Invite any officer of any NHS body to attend before the Committee to answer questions or give evidence

The Work Programme will be submitted to and agreed by the Scrutiny Committees at each meeting and will be published with each 
agenda.

The dates are indicative of when the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee will review the item, however they may need to be 
rescheduled and new items added as required.P

age 52



Topic Scrutiny Purpose
(objectives, initial 
outcomes)

Scrutiny 
Method 

Lead Officers/
Organisation

Proposed
Date(s)

Recommendations Progress

Meeting
SEND – 
Lancashire 
Parent Carer 
Forum

Progress on the 
establishment of the 
Lancashire Parent 
Carer Forum

Meeting Sophie 
Valinakis
Catherine 
Ratcliffe 
(Contact)

4 July 
2018

A letter be sent from the Chair 
of the Committee to the 
Regional Manager at Contact 
with a copy to the Department 
for Education highlighting the 
concerns raised on the 
progress in Lancashire on the 
establishment of a Lancashire 
Parent Carer Forum.

An action plan be drafted on 
delivery and timescales by 
Contact. 

A further update on progress 
from Contact be provided to 
the Committee later in the 
autumn. 

Members attend engagement 
events in their areas and report 
back to the Committee.

Response received

Ofsted Report To receive report and 
to discuss any further 
items to be included in 
the work programme

Meeting John Readman
Amanda Hatton

10 October 
2018

P
age 53



Children's 
Health

Overview of current 
challenges across 
Lancashire

Meeting Sakthi 
Karunanithi

10 October 
2018

Task Group 
Report

Receive the 
Supporting Pupils at 
School with Medical 
Conditions task group 
report

Meeting CC Ian Brown 10 October 
2018

Children's 
Partnership 
Board

Update following 
review

Meeting Dave Carr 28 
November 
2018

Child and 
Family 
Wellbeing 
Service

Service provision 
update following 
outcome of 
consultation on budget 
saving proposal.

Report from Cllr 
Brunskill – mobile 
resources

Meeting Debbie Duffell
Cllr Stella 
Brunskill

28 
November 
2018

Lancashire 
Parent Carer 
Forum

Progress of forum 
establishment and 
engagement with 
parents

Meeting Contact
David Graham
Sophie 
Valinakis

28 
November 
2018

P
age 54



0-19 Healthy  
Child 
Programme

Issues contributing to 
the court judgement on 
the procurement 
process

Meeting TBC TBC

Inquiry Day
SEND (joint 
Education and 
Children's 
Services)

Social 
skills/connections 
between YOT and teen 
suicide
Transition from primary 
to high school

Inquiry 
Day

David Graham TBC

Task Group
Teenage 
Suicide

TBC Task 
Group

TBC TBC

Rapporteur
Children and 
Family 
Wellbeing 

Mobile resources to 
challenge pockets of 
deprivation and rural 
isolation

Rapporte
ur

Cllr Stella 
Brunskill

October 

Bite Size Briefing
Online 
Safeguarding

Overview of training 
provided by LSCB

Bite Size 
Briefing

LSCB 11 
December 
18

Ofsted report Overview of report 
detail

Bite Size 
Briefing

Amanda Hatton 4 October 
2018

Risk Sensible 
Model

Overview of training 
provided by LSCB

Bite Size 
Briefing

LSCB 11 
December 
18

Domestic Abuse 
Perpetrator 
Programme

Overview of 
programme

Bite Size 
Briefing

Debbie 
Thompson

13 March 
18

P
age 55



Briefing Note
Secure units Update following 

inspection and 
recommendation from 
Cabinet

Briefing 
Note

Amanda Hatton September 
2018

Children's 
Social Care

New models of delivery 
following overspend

Briefing 
Note

Amanda 
Hatton/Neil 
Kissock

October 
2018

YOT Budget savings 
proposal

Briefing 
Note

Barbara Bath November 
2018

SCAYT+ Budget savings 
proposal

Briefing 
Note

TBC November 
2018

Children's 
Partnership 
Board

Review update Briefing 
Note

Amanda Hatton September 
2018

Domestic Abuse Update following 
conclusion of the 
cabinet working group

Briefing 
Note

John Readman 
CC Williamson

TBC

National 
Troubled 
Families 
Programme

Update on data system 
and recruitment

Briefing 
Note

Debbie Duffell November 
2018

Children Looked 
After

Breakdown of 
Lancashire children 
looked after placed 
outside of Lancashire

Briefing 
Note

Sally Allen TBC

P
age 56


	Agenda
	3 Minutes from the meeting held on 4 July 2018
	5 Report on the Ofsted re-inspection of Children's Services
	Ofsted Report

	6 Child Health - Lancashire
	Enc. 1 for Child Health - Lancashire

	7 Children's Services Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19
	Appendix A


